Misa Rakocija

PALEOBYZANTINE CHURCHES OF NIS
Preliminary survey

A greater number of churches from the period of IV to VII century should
be expected in Ni§ and its surroundings for at least four reasons.

The first among them is, of course, that the Emperor Constantine the
Great, who was born in Ni§, ,,magnificently decorated“! his birthplace, as wit-
nessed by chroniclers, following the usual pattern of those times (like his pre-
decessors Galerius who built Felix Romuliana, or Diocletian who erected the
palace in Split). Numerous structures that he founded most certainly included a
number of Christian temples as well. Therefore, it should be assumed that the
first Christian churches were constructed in Naissus during the first half of the
IV century.

The second reason is embedded in the fact that St. Athanasios the Great
spent some time in Naissus. His presence affected the entire life, as well as ar-
tistic and architectural endeavors of first Christians in Ni§. After the Council in
Serdica (Sofia), Athanasios the Great came to NiS to celebrate the Easter of 344
together with Gaudentius, the Bishop of NiS. This had an impact on the spiritual
and artistic life of Ni§ inhabitants.2

The third reason reflects in the evidence that Ni§ was a town of martyrs
— Martyropolis,3 known among the contemporary Christians by its martyrs and
their relics, which influenced the development of architecture and determined
the types of buildings in these areas. Mention should be made of the famous
Christian philosopher of the IV century St. Victricius, the_Bishop of Rouen
(France), who cited Ni$ in his work ,,De laude sanctorum* as one of the sig-
nificant towns in which miraculous relics of martyrs are kept. Since Ni§ was
classified as equal to Constantinople, Antioch, Thessaloniki and Rome, it would
not be difficult to comprehend how famous it was for its martyrs to deserve

LTI Metposuh, Huw y anmuuko doba, Huur 1976, 37; Org. Const. 2,2.

2 M. Pakonnja, Panoguzanmujcka 2pobruya na ceo0 koo ceia Knucypa nopeo Huwa
u kpamak ocepm na npoonem 3aceedenux epoonuya, Hum u Busantuja 11, Melhynapoauu
Hayuynu ckyrn, Hum 2004, 158 ca nuteparypom.

3 M. Pakounja, Manacmupu u ypree epada Huwa, Hu 1998, 14; M. Rakocija, Cul-
tural treasures of Nis, Ni§ 2000, 42, 51-52.
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Fig. 1. The map of the finds in Jagodin Mala, according to A. O. Slaveti¢

Co.1. Kapra nanasa y Jarogua Manu, nmpema A.O. CrnaBetunhy

to be aligned with the centers of such reputation.4 The names of martyrs have
remained unknown, except, maybe, for St. Procopius who was later mentioned
in connection with the Cathedral and who used to be the patron of the town
of Ni§ throughout the Middle Ages.5 The tombs of respectable martyrs, as the
most prominent places of burial,® were directly linked to the later built church
of equal prominence. It can be stated with much certainty that the basilica with
the martyrium once used to be one of such places (cella memoriae).

The fourth reason may be observed in the fact that, due to frequent Avar and
Slavic raids, Ni§ developed into a strong military base and a center of Byzantine
culture, which radiated from here towards the continent inlands. During that
period, and particularly during the reign of the Emperor Justinian, as we learn

4 H. Delehaye, Les origins du culte des martyrs, Bruxelles 1933, 246; J. Zeiler, Les
origines chrétiens des provinces danubiennes de |’Empire romain, Paris 1918, 108; JI.
Mupxosuh, Cmapoxpuwhancka epoonuya y Huwy, Crapunap V-VI (1954-1955), (beorpan
1956), 67: ,,An aliter in oriente Constantinopoli, Antiochiae, Thessalonicae, Naiso, Romao
in Italia minseris, porrigunt medicinami ...

5 B. Mapxkosuh, /Ipasociasno monawmeo u manacmupu y cpedrwegexosroj Cpouju,

Cpewmcku Kapmosuu 1920, 39, 48; J. Kanmuh-Mujymxosuh, Huw y cpeorwem sexy, ctopuja
Hua, I, Hum 1983, 87.
6 A. Grabar, Martyrium. Recherches sur le culte des religues et [ art chrétien antique,

vol. I, Arhitecture, Paris 1946; 1. Herklotz, Sepulcra e monumenta. Studi sull art sepulcrale
in Italia, Roma 1985, 28-36.
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Fig. 2. Jagodin Mala, Church number 8, according to A. O. Slaveti¢
Cn.2. Jarogun Maina, Lipksa 0p. 8, mpema A.O. Cnasetuhy

from Procopius,’ restoration and construction of fortifications along the periph-
eral Nis-basin lines included the building of churches as well. Churches can be
found in the nearby hills, sometimes as independent structures built on domi-
nant tops8 and sometimes within the forts on strategically important hills. Their
position on prominent hilltops satisfied military and strategic requirements and
at the same time exerted impressive influence on native population with the aim
of their Christianization, which was of extreme significance in the first centuries
of Christianity.

There are no data on ecclesiastic buildings within the town, except for
one parapet slab possibly. It was discovered in the present-day Fortress, next to
the Byzantine street colonnade, near the presumed forum of the Roman Naissus.
The parapet slab could belong to a nearby church, which should be situated in
the forum, but its position is still unknown.%

A substantial number of temples in Nis is indirectly witnessed by Priscus,
who visited Ni$ in 448, after it had been destroyed in 441 by Huns: ,,When we
arrived to Nis, we found the town totally deserted, as it had been torn down to
the ground by the enemy (the Huns). There were some people on the ruins of
temples, having been lingering there due to illnesses.”10 Taking into consider-
ation the year in which Priscus visited Ni$, we are inclined to believe that the

7 @. bapumwmh, [Ipoxomnuje, y: Busantujcku u3BopH 3a nCTOpHUjy Hapozaa Jyrociasuje
1, Beorpax 1955, 62/63.

8 JI. Mupxosuh, IIpasociasna rumypeuxa 1, Beorpan 1982, 81; Tertullian, Adv. Valen-
tinianos ¢.3 (Migne, Patr. lat. T. IL. p. 580.)

9 M. Paxouwuja, O napanemnoj naouu us Huwa, nopexiy u munono2uju naneosusan-
mujckux npeepaoa, Hum n Buzanruja IV, mehynaponuu nayanu cxyn (Hum 2006), 95-109.

10 ®. bapuiuuh, y: Busanmujcxku uzeopu 3a ucmopujy Hapooa Jyzociasuje, 1, beorpan
1955, 13
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Fig. 3 Jagodin Mala, Church number 20, according to A. O. Slaveti¢
Cu. 3 Jaroaun Maa, Ipksa 6p. 20, npema A.O. CnaBetuhy

notion ,,on the ruins of temples* refers to Christian churches. The plural in this
respect unambiguously points to a greater number of churches having existed in
the town of Nis in the first half of the V century. Priscus did not directly explain
the exact location of the churches. However, careful reading and precise detec-
tion of the town layout!! could uncover all the splendor of ecclesiastic building
trade of Naissus, indicated by historical sources and corroborated by modest
material traces.

As early by the first half of the IV century, Ni§ was a stronghold of
Christians and an episcopal center. The name of the first known bishop of Nis
Cyriacus, mentioned before the Council of Serdica (Sofia) in 343, originates
from this period.!2 Mentioning of the bishop implies the existence of a church
inside the town where he had his seat. There is no material evidence of a church
built within the town limits in that time. One of the reasons for that may be the
fact that we still do not know the exact location of Naissus and its limits. The
mentioned note of Priscus related to the ruined temples in which he found sick
people after the Huns had ravaged Nis refers to the temples inside the town, but
we have no proofs of that. We know much more about the churches in the city
cemetery that was located outside the town walls, to the east.

11 O moneorenesu rpazga: I. Munomtesuh, ,, Umanujancru nian* Huwa uz 1719. 2o-
OuHe Kao noeoo 3a PeKOHCMPYKYUJy usneda cpeormwosekosHoe U anmuykoz epaoa, Hum u
Buzanruja 111, mehynapoaun cummnosujym, Hum 2005, 149-162.

12 JI. Mupxosuh, Cmapoxpuwhancka epobnuya y Huwy, Crapunap V-VI (1954-
1955), Beorpan 1956, 67, 68.
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In contrast to the
town, four churches have
been discovered in the city
necropolis, which leads to
the assumption that more
of them could have existed
within the town walls.

In this period of Late
Antiquity, lives of pagans 2
and Christians were en-
twined and both equally |
respected their dead. This
is witnessed by material
traces discovered in the
necropolis in Jagodin Mala
in NiS, where coexistent
pagan and Christian tombs
were found. Contents of 5
epitaphs, remodeled pa-
gan monuments and inter-
twined Roman and Greek
names of the deceased
bear eloquent testimony to
the manner in which the
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Fig. 4. Jagodin Mala, Church number 42, according to A.

citizens of Ni§ were ac- 0. Slaveti¢
cepting Chrlsthnlty. Cn. 4. Jaromun Maua, Lpksa 6p. 42, npema A.O.
This fairly large Crnasetnhy

number of churches and
Christian tombs in the city cemetery of Naissus should be primarily understood
as the result of respecting the autonomy of grave, well-known in the Roman
legal system. Christianity subsequently spread, the cemetery broadened, so the
necropolis in Jagodin Mala is nowadays recognized as one of the biggest Early-
Christian necropolises in the Balkans.

In the Jagodin-Mala necropolis, which was active in the period from the
IV to the VII century, six early Christian churches were registered — four of
them before and two after the World War II. In his excavations of 1932/33, A.
Orsi¢ Slaveti¢ uncovered four churches and one ,,mausoleum®, as he named it.
In the attached map, he marked the discovered churches with the numbers 8§, 20,
42 and 45, while the mausoleum was marked with the number 3.13 (Fig. 1)

The church number 814 - Tt is located in the eastern side of the Cegarska
Street. (Fig. 2) This is an imposing elongated single-aisled structure with a
semicircular inner and outer apse in the east side. It is 24.30 m long and 10.40 m

13- A. Opummh-Cnaseruh, Apxeonowka ucmpascusara y Huwy, Cmapunap 8-9,
(1933-1934), beorpax 1933, 303, ci.1.
14 Ibid, 304, fig. 2.
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wide. The naos walls are thinner from the apsidal arch wall (1 m in width), most
probably because the apse was built and vaulted with a half-dome, while the
naos was covered with a wooden roof structure. The church floor was made of
lime-coated stone and fortified with masonry in the area under the holy table.

: | |

| 574

-

Fig. 5. Martyrium with a basilica, the base

Cun. 5. Maptupujym ca 6a3uiinKoM, OCHOBa

Fig. 6. A. O. Slavetic¢ in the newly discovered ,,mausoleum® with the rectangular structure
in its center (Photograph. National Museum of Nig)

Cx. 6. A.O. CnaBeruh y HOBOOTKPHUBEHOM ,,May30JIejy* ca 3uIaHOM IPABOYTaOHOM
KoHCTpyKuujoM y cpeaniuty (Poto. Haponuu mysej Hur)
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The church is entered
from the west, through a door
flanked by two marble col-
umns. The base of the southern
column was found in situ. Such
flanked entrance with marble
columns has been registered in
other churches as well, in the
surroundings of Nis.

The church is noticeably
well-proportioned, with equal &
apsidal breast-wall ends of 1.30
m in length, and the correlation
of the naos and the apsidal arch
is finely made.

Nothing of movable ma-
terial has been found to enable
precise dating of the church.
However, the solution of the
church base, like the width of
the apse covering most of the
naos, absence of niches in the
eastern wall, as well as the o . :
elongated naos in the form of Fig. 7. The martyrium interior, western side
a basilica, classify it among the
first early Christian churches of
Nis.

The church number 2015 - 1t is difficult to locate this church exactly by
means of Slaveti¢’s sketch. It can only be stated that it was situated in the to-
day’s Ratko Pavlovi¢ Street. (Fig. 3) Two parallel walls have been discovered,
about 11 m in length and stretching in the east-west direction. At the distance
of about 2.5 m, lateral walls preserved in fragments are stretching alongside
them. In this manner, a three-aisled base is formed. A crypt consisting of two
tombs with separated cases for heads was uncovered in the southern nave. A
similarly shaped head case was discovered in the three-aisled basilica with the
martyrium, so they may be dated to the same period.

The church number 4216 - Slaveti¢ partially explored a structure to the
east from the church no. 20, and marked it as the church number 42. (Fig. 4) He
then cleared a part of the room defined by a western wall of 22 m in length and
by lateral walls preserved in the length of about 2 m, each of them about 1.8 m
thick. The interior of the room contained a 0.80 m thick semicircular apse leaned
onto the western wall. As Slaveti¢ noted, fragments of ,,multicolored stucco*
were found in the structure. Although insufficiently precise, the description

Co1. 7. YHYTpaImbOCT MapTHPHjyMa, 3ariajiHa CTpaHa

15 [bid, 304, fig. 3.
16 [bid, 304, fig. 4.
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of stucco decoration leads
to the conclusion that the
- church facades were lav-
. ishly ornamented. Ceramic
facade artifacts uncovered
_ later near the basilica with
the martyrium confirm that
this was not the only richly
decorated structure.
Slaveti¢ dated the
structure to the IV century
: by virtue of the coins of
= e (AL - Constantine the Great. In
Fig. 8. Ceramic capitol, 1957 (Photograph. National ~ default of any closer data

Museum of Nis) related to the discovery
Can. 8. Kepamuuku kanuten, 1957. ronuna (doto. site itself, it would not be

Hapozuu mysej Hu) possible to state that the
- structure in question was a
church, especially because
| this would be the only early
| Christian church in the area
of Ni§ with the apse in the
western side.

The church number
4517 - To the east from the
church 42, the northern
| half of an apsidal arch and
; 2l a breast wall were discov-
Fig. 9. Ceramic capitol, today ered. Based on the coins
of Valens, the structure is
broadly dated to the IV cen-
tury.

The basilica with a martyrium!8 - A monumental martyrium and impres-
sive dimensions of the church represent a specific cult structure in which relics
were kept of the martyrs Nis used to be known for in the Christian world of the
IV century. (Fig. 5)

The martyrium was discovered in 1933 by Slaveti¢, who called it ,,a mau-
soleum particularly nicely built of yellow bricks®. (Fig. 6) Twenty years later, in
1953, under the guidance of Djordje Mano Zisi, a three-aisled basilica was un-
covered on its eastern side. The martyrium and the basilica subsequently added
to it were designed as an integral structure.19

Ci. 9. Kepamuuku xanuren, gaHac

17 Ibid, 304.

18 [bid, 304, fig. 5.

19 The functional interconnection of the martyrium and the basilica, as well as identi-
cal modular relations of the crypt and the basilica, lead Nevenka Spremo-Petrovi¢ to con-
clude that they were built at the same time - H. Ciipemo-Ilerposuh, /lponopyujcku oornocu y
6azunukama unupcke npepexmype, beorpan 1971, 28/29, T.X
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The martyrium has a rectangular base
and it is all built of nicely laid bricks. Its
interior is divided into four big niches (ar-
cosoliums), two in the northern and another
two in the southern side, barrel-vaulted and
most probably enclosed, inside which the
dead were placed. The western wall contains
three niches, of which the middle one is the
biggest, organized as a sanctuary. Above
the middle niche, there is a window through
which the relics were honored (fenestella).
The martyrium center?0 included a place
of honor, which contained a rectangular el-
evated construction in the form of a pedestal
for representative ciborium with marble col-
umns found around it, intended for the cult
worship. (Fig. 7)

The central area of the martyrium was
covered with a semi-cylindrical vault, judg-
ing by the photograph preserved from 1933.

The interstice between the vault arch, above |

the arcosolium and below the floor, parti-
tioned in a certain period, was used for buri-
als.2! The shape of the above-ground part o

Fig. 10. Ceramic console, today
Ci. 10 Kepamuuka koH3071a, JaHac

TIAN >

the martyrium is unknown. Massive pilasters &

surrounding it indicate a grandiose building.

This is maybe the right moment to
mention several ceramic capitol fragments
that are kept in the National Museum in Ni$
(accession number 99) with a scanty note
that it was uncovered in the ruins of a ba-

silica in Jagodin Mala. (Fig. 8,9) Such arti-
facts were used as a decorative finishing of |

pilasters and consoles above roofs. The Nis
find contains parts of a capitol, but one con-
sole as well. (Fig. 10) They were made of
well-baked red clay, and consist of a front
decorated part and a back concave part. The
front part is decorated with relief ornaments
in the form of a capitol composed of striped

Fig. 11. Staircase connecting the mar-
tyrium to the basilica

Cu. 11 CrenenuiuTe Koje mosesyje
MapTUPHjyM ca Oa3MIIKOM

volutes, ivy leaves and a shell. The floral ornament framed by a twisted band
decorates the console. Style characteristics and subject matter of the capitol
decoration indicate the Roman art, while the style analogies date it to the [V

century.

20 T. Munoresuh, op. cit., 124, fig. 2.
21 Ibid, 127.
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Fig. 12. Basilica with the martyrium, the tomb
structure with the separate head case

Co. 12. Ba3ununka ca MapTUpHjyMoM, TpoOHa
KOHCTPYKLHja ca U3ABOjEHHM IIPOCTOPOM 32 [JIaBy

L

Cn. 13. Lipksa Cg. [lanrtenejmoHna, TeMesbi
panoxpumrhaHcke Oa3uiInKe, apXeoIomIKa
uckomnasama 1969/70, (doro. Haponuu my3sej

Hu)

Fig. 13. Church of St. Panteleimon, foundations
of an early Christian basilica, archaeological
excavations of 1969/70 (Photograph. National
Museum of Ni§)

It was entered in the inven-
tory in 1957, with the accompany-
ing note ,,JJagodin Mala“, that is,
after the basilica had been found,
so it most probably belongs to

* this or to some nearby structure.

It will remain unanswered wheth-

Y er it decorated the cornice of the

§ above-ground martyrium part or

i the facade of the basilica, although

4 we would rather be inclined to the
i first assumption.

If we add to these finds the
note on fragments of ,,multicol-
ored stucco® within the church 42,
we would have enough reason to
conclude that this manner of deco-
rating facade walls was widely ac-
cepted and customary in this area.

Flanked stairs, decorated
with and arcade row, lead from the
martyrium to the exonarthex of
the later built basilica. The arcade
arches are supported by stone con-

i soles decorated with shallow relief

resembling ceramic items. The
dromus walls were covered with

| frescoes.?? (Fig. 11)

The basilica is three-aisled,
with a semicircular apse on the east
side. In the naos, the central aisle
is separated from the lateral ones

| by pillars made of bricks. The nar-

thex consists of two rooms, while
the narrow room in their extension
took over the role of an exonarthex
in the floor of which there is the
crypt-accessing staircase.

The basilica is built of stone
and bricks applied by turns, and its
southern wall is fortified by brick

pilasters on the outside. The walls of the basilica were covered by frescoes and

marble paneling.

22 M. Pakounja, Manacmupu u ypree epaoa Huwa, 16, 53/54.
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Numerous tombs of
different structures were %5 1B, a8

. o 70] .
uncovered in the basilica. *‘f |

|
\
\
The tomb structure of }

bricks with a small semi- —

constructed. In the nearby
church marked with the
number 20, Slaveti¢ dis-
covered tombs with sepa-
rated head cases.23 (Fig.
12)

circular niche at the west —

for the head of the deceased ,

was particularly carefully ﬂ |
1

The citizens of Ni$
that were buried inside
this cultic church certainly

belonged to high society,
while the crypt might have
housed some of the local
sufferers for Christ’s re-
ligion, later proclaimed martyrs, by which Ni§ was well-known even to the
bishop Victricius of Rouen in the IV century.

The archaeological excavations of 1966, 1969 and 1970 in the church-
yard of St. Panteleimon uncovered the foundations of an early Christian basilica
dated back to the end of the IV or the first half of the V century.24 (Fig. 13)

There are no reliable data on churches having existed within the town
during the IV and V centuries. However, a material trace related to a church
inside the town walls of Naissus has been recognized in the parapet slab with
the motif of chrismon, found as a secondary material used in the mosque beside
the Byzantine road, near the Forum. (Fig. 14) We can only guess its original
location, but we are sure of the Christian content of its decoration. The fact that
it was discovered in a mosque, as mosques had often been built on old Christian
cultic locations, allows for a hypothesis that a Christian temple should be ex-
pected in the close vicinity of this find. The existence of a cultic structure nearby
the mosque is also indicated by small items uncovered in this site: a Eucharist
disk, enkolpions, floats for vigil oil lamps decorated with chrismons, as well as
mosaic blocks of gold-leaf covered vitrified paste, which might have belonged
to an adjacent church that should have logically existed near the Forum.25

During the reign of Justinian, in the period of 527-565, as we learn from
Procopius, the town walls of Ni§ were fortified, while in the town surround-
ings 7 existing fortifications were restored and 32 new forts were built, like the

Fig. 14. The parapet slab from Ni§

Cn. 14. [Tapanerna ruioua u3 Huma

23 T. MunoreBuh, op. cit., 129-135.

24 B. Kopah, Hcmpaoscusarwe ocmamara xpama Ce. [Tanmenejmona, 360pHUK pagoBa
BuzanTonomkor nHcTHTyTa, X XXIX, Beorpax 2001/2002.

25 M. Paxouwja, O napanemmnoj naouu uz Huwa u munonoeuju naneosusanmujckux
npeepaoa, Hum n Buzantuja 1V, Mehynapoxun vayunu ckym, Humr 2005, 95-110.
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Fig. 15. The fortification above Mediana
Cn. 15. YTBphewe uznan Menujane

Fig. 16. Church of St. Nicholas in Ni§, foundations of an early Byzantine basilica

Ca. 16. Lipkea CB. Hukone y Hunry, TeMembu paHOBU3aHTHjCKE OAa3HITHKE
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Fig. 17 Church of St. Nicholas in Ni§, foundations of an early Byzantine basilica, a drawing

Cn. 17. Lpksa Cs. Huxoste y Humry, TeMemn paHOBU3aHTHjCKE Oa3UITHKE, PTEXK

one above Mediana.26 Sources do not mention construction and restoration of
churches, but this undoubtedly happened, as evidenced by known structures
and proved by building activities of Justinian across the entire Empire as well.
(Fig. 15)

Again, there are no data on any temples that most certainly existed behind
these restored firm fortifications. At the moment, our knowledge is restricted to
the churches in the town neighborhood — either independent structures or parts
of newly erected or restored fortifications. The common characteristic of all of
them is their location on dominant hilltops.

Recently uncovered foundations of a basilica in the churchyard of St.
Nicholas may also be dated to the same period. By its position, on a hill closest
to the town, the basilica represents an integral part of the urban scheme of early
Byzantine Naissus.2’ (Fig. 16, 17)

26 @. Bapuwuh, op. cit., 63; A. Opunh-Cnaseruh, op. cit., 305.

27 M. Paxounja, Pesynmamu apxeonowkux ucmpadxcusaarsa y nopmu ypkee Cs. Hu-
xone y Huwy u noxywaj youxayuje enucxoncke ypree Ce. Ilpoxonuja, TacHUK OpyIiTBa
xoHzepBatopa Cpbuje 26, beorpan 2002, 127-131.
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Fig. 18. Church of St. Nicholas in Ni§, the Fig. 19. Church of St. Nicholas in Ni§,
column base the marble cross from the altar partition

Ca. 18. Lipksa CB. Hukone y Humry, 6a3a cry6a Cn. 19. Lpksa CB. Hukone y Humry,
MEpMEpHH KPCT ca OJITapHe Hperpaze

Archaeological excavations of 2000/2001 revealed the foundations of the
northwestern corner of the building, eastward oriented, consisting of great walls
with more than 1 m in thickness, while their length has not been determined.
Large quantities of rubble composed of Byzantine-style bricks, ashlars and
mortar lumps suggest huge dimensions of the structure. Its interior contained a
row of columns, of which one column base with a plinth and the pedestal sub-
structure of another column have been uncovered so far. (Fig. 18)

The column base is placed on a rectangular pedestal of bricks and stone.
It is cut in a monolithic stone, considerably damaged, but nicely dressed once
upon a time. The column base diameter points out that it should have been more
than 3 m high and that it supported the roof structure of this grandiose build-
ing.

The pedestal substructure of another column defines their intercolumna-
tion and indicates the recognizable Byzantine building mode. On this basis, the
apsidal area of the church can be identified, although it has not yet been actually
determined.28

The church floors were tiled with square bricks, and their imprints are still
clearly visible in the mortar that was binding them.

A fragment of a fine-grained marble cross that belonged to a marble al-
tar partition of an early Byzantine church confirms that this really was an an-
cient cultic place. It is very likely that this was the episcopal church of St.
Procopius, mentioned in some sources from the XII and the XIV centuries.
(Fig. 19) It housed the relics of St. Procopius that might have contributed to
the reputation of Ni§ as the Martyropolis - the town of the martyr who was the

28 About this: N. Spremo-Petrovic, op. cit.
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patron of Ni§ throughout the
Middle Age - Thessaloniki
had St. Dimitrios, Bari had St.
Nicholas, while Ni§ had St.
Procopius. A specific study
should deal with the question
of how the relics of this re-
spectable martyr reached Nis.
The first Christians of
Nis used and adopted to their
needs the renowned late-an-
tiquity site of Mediana as
well, from mosaic decoration,
a possible baptistery, to the )
recently discovered church. Ca. 20 Menujana, Temesbn paHoxpunrhancke pKBe
This fact, kept aside over a
long period, has become un-
avoidable after the discovery
of the church.29 Apart from
the presumed baptistery, pos-
sible church complex has not §
been thoroughly investigated, §
but the existing walls and mo-
saic decorations impose the §
obligation to do s0.30 5
The church complex
has not been defined, but the §
discovered church is prob-
ably the oldest in Ni§, bearing &
witness of the first Christians’
presence in Mediana and
therefore of the need for a
monumental baptistery, too.
During the church con-
struction, the western fence of
the villa with a peristyle had
been broken and its stones, as
well as the stone with the pagan - Latin inscription, were used for building,3!
indirectly revealing the atmosphere in which the church was built. (Fig. 20)
The church has a wide semicircular apse in the east side, which spreads to
almost entire width of the naos, and a narrow narthex. A mosaic in the form of
Christ’s Monogram was found in naos, in the place of ambo. The interrelations
between the apse and the naos, as well as between the naos and the narthex,

Fig. 20 Mediana, foundations of the early Christian
church

Fig. 21. Mediana, the early Christian church, the mo-
saic ambo

Ca. 21. Menujana, panoxpumrhancka pKBa, MO3auuHH
aMBOH

29 M. Bacuh, Xponuka uckonasarwa Meoujane 2000-2002. cooune, Crapunap, HoBa
cepuja kmura LIII-LIV/2003-2004, (Beorpan 2004), 290/1.

30 M. Pakouuja, Manacmupu u ypkee epada Huwa, 19/20. 47/48.

31 M. Bacuh, op. cit., 292, 294.
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Fig. 22. Ostrovica, the northeastern corner of the early Byzantine basilica with the entrance
to the crypt

Cn. 22. OctpoBuiia, CeBepOUCTOYHH yrao paHOBH3AHTH]CKE OA3MIIHKE Ca YIa30M y
TpoOHHITY

determine the church to the end of the IV or beginning of the V century, while
its small dimensions and tombs around it define it as a minor cemetery basilica.
(Fig. 21)

Numerous churches are located in all dominant high grounds around
Nis.

The site of the former church of Holy Archangel Gabriel is located at the
gateway of Sicevacka Klisura Gorge, on the left bank of NiSava, near the village
of Ostrovica.32 (Fig. 22)

What is left of once monumental temple is only a rectangular, about 30
m long base of what used to be the church walls. The east side of the rectan-
gular is closed southwards by a still visible apsidal arch. A part of the northern
breast wall is also visible in the hight of about one meter. This wall, made of
Byzantine-formatted bricks, was built as a superstructure over the semi-cylin-
drical vault of the crypt, just above its entrance. This way, the crypt was made
the integral part of the basilica. It is fully preserved and belongs to the type of
early Byzantine semi-cylindrically vaulted crypts with one niche in the west-
ern wall, by which we could date it to the end of the IV or beginning of the V
century.33 The rectangular entrance, topped with radially laid bricks, is barely

32 M. Paxouwnja, Kyimypua pusnuya Huwa, Har 2001, 62/3.
33 M. Paxouwuja, Panosuszanmujcrka epobnuya na ceoo ......, 154, cu.10.
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Fig. 23. Ostrovica, the interior of the crypt in the basilica substructure

Ci. 23. OctpoBHIla, YHYTPALIKHOCT IPOOHUIIE Y CYNICTPYKIUjH Oa3HITHKe

visible today. It is entirely made of bricks and its walls are coated with mortar,
while the cases for the deceased, if any, could be under the water that has filled
half of the crypt inside. (Fig. 23)

The church above the crypt was built some time later, as was the common
practice in the Christian world of those times. Known examples of churches
with crypts in their substructures are dated to the V or VI century, so the same
may apply to the church site of the former Holy Archangel Gabriel.34

The church on the site of Kamara near the village of Gabrovac 1is still
unexplored and forgotten. It is located on a high hill commanding unobstructed
views of both Ni§ and the field of Mediana.35 (Fig. 24)

The early Christian church, known to the local population as a former
church site, according to the report of OrsSi¢-Slaveti¢, was excavated in 1931.
Its walls, made of ashlar and bricks, were then preserved in the height of up to
60 cm, together with the floor made of square bricks. The eastern apsidal part
was destroyed so the shape of the apse could not be observed. Benches for those
preparing to be initiated into the sacred mysteries, that is, for catechumens are
stretching along the southern and the western walls. The southern part of the

34 1. Nikolajevi¢, Sahranjivanje u ranohris¢anskim crkvama na podrucju Srbije,
Arheoloski vesnik 28, (Beograd 1978), 681/2.

35 A. Opumnh-Cnaseruh, berewke ca nymosarsa, Crapunap X-XI (1935-1936),
Beorpan 1935-1936, 172, cx. 4.
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church contains an immured vaulted crypt with
HPKBHUTE HA KAMAPH a skeleton in a casket of slant sandstone slabs. A
fragmented sepulchral slab was found near the
head of the deceased. It had a Christogram and
an inscription from which it could be compre-
hended that certain Parvul, once undoubtedly
distinguished person, was laid to rest in peace
here. It had to be in the V or VI century, when
the church was built and used, as all the other
churches with crypts in their substructures. Only
a heap of rubble has remained of all that to be
seen today.36

In the village of Knez Selo, on the domi-
nant hill called Krst (cross), there are the remains
of'a Byzantine basilica named the Greek Church
by the villagers. (Fig. 25)The base of a three-
aisled basilica, about 29 m long and 8 m wide,
used to be visible in the past. The walls were
massive and built of large rubble stones and ash-
lars. A door opening with a stone threshold is
in the west side, while the east side contains a
similar opening but without a doorsill preserved.
Two damaged, but with nicely treated surfaces,
column bases are flanking the western entrance
= o with the massive stone doorsill, thus increasing
the regret over such a poor condition of this old
holy object.

Fig. 24. Gabrovac, the site of

Kamara, an early Christian . .
church with a crypt in its sub- Between the villages of Klisura and

structure, according to A. 0. Orljane, below the Serbian town of Koprijan,

Slaveti¢ known previously as the Byzantine Komplos, in

Cn. 24. Ta6posan, Jokamurer line with the liturgical procession, the lower hill

Kawmapa, panoxpumhancka upksa Used to be crowned with a church, of which only

ca rpoGHuIioM y cuncrpykimji, some bricks and mortar lumps have remained.37
mpema A.O. CnaBetuhy (Fig. 26)

Back in 1933, when it was excavated, its
trefoil base emerged and determined it to the VI century. Then, the naos floor
surface was cleaned and uncovered white and green marble tiles (20 cm x 20
cm), while the floor of the narthex was decorated by a mosaic. In the first centu-
ries of Christianity, the diaconicon was located near the church entrance, to the
north from the entrance, in a room with an apse and a cruciform font in which
church utensils were washed.

The former representative appearances of the old holy object is most elo-
quently evidenced by its dominant position and by the tiles of green marble,

36 1. Nikolajevi¢, op. cit., 683.

37 A. Opmnh-Cnasetuh, benewre ca nymosarsa, 173, cn.5: B. Kouauh, B. TTonoswuh,
Lapuuun epao, ymspheno naceme y susanmujckom MUnupuxy, 'anepuja CAHY 33, Beorpan
1977, 158, cn.122.
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which used to be brought to these
regions all the way from Greek is-
lands at those times.

Regarding its base, the
church in Klisura is almost iden-
tical with the triconchal church
outside the walls of the fortress
of Cari¢in Grad, as well as with
the original base of the Church of
Theotokos near Kursumlija.

Not far from the Klisura
church, near the village of Curlina,
there is an early Byzantine basilica
unmentioned before in any histori-
cal sources. (Fig. 27) When it was
discovered in 1882, its remnants
had the walls of approximately
one-meter in height.38 The rectan-
gular base of the temple in Curlina,
in total length of 37 m and width
of 16 m, was designed as a three-
aisled basilica with a narthex. Its
western side most certainly con-
tained a porch which probably
encircled the church alongside its
southern and northern sides. Each )
aisle on the eastern side ends with a € 25. Knes ceno, 6aze qy603a Ha 3ara/iHoj
three-sided apse. Along the interior CTPaHH PAHOBH3AHTH]CKE Gasiike
arch of the greatest and protrusive
middle apse, there are sloping bulges intended for the seats of the bishops - a
synthronos. The sanctuary is separated from the naos by a partition made of two
gray-green granite columns placed on a fine-polished marble base. The main
nave is separated from each lateral aisle with three rectangular columns built
of bricks. A separate door leads to each aisle from the narthex. In the narthex,
apart from the main entrance on the western side, which is greater to a certain
extent, there are two more openings, one to the north and the other to the south
from it. The church is built of bricks, and the watertight mortar was used as the
cementing material. According to Felix Kanitz, the interior wall surfaces were
covered with frescoes.39

Nowadays, beneath thick deposits of mortar and brick rubble, we may
only assume the existence of the walls of what used to be an impressive build-
ing, but we can also observe the two mentioned columns of nicely finished
gray-green granite (2 m and 1.7 m in lengths and 0.40 m in diameters), which
belonged to the sanctuary partition.40

Kypausirpascko Upkwiure

Fig. 25. Knez Selo, column bases in the west
side of the early Byzantine basilica

38 M. b. Munuhesuh, Kpawvesurna Cpouja, beorpan 1884, 19/20.
39 @. Kanu, Cpbuja, 3emspa u craHoBauInTBO 11, Beorpan 1985, 184.
40 M. Pakounja, Manacmupu u ypree epaoa Huwa, 57-60.
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Fig. 26. Klisura, the early Byzantine church, according to
A. O. Slaveti¢

Cu. 26. Knucypa, PanoBusanTujcka npksa, npema A.O.
Cnaseruhy

—

Fig. 27. Curlina, the early Byzantine basilica, according to
F. Kanitz

Cun. 27. hypiauHa, paHoBu3anTHjcKa 6azmiuka, mpema .
Kanuny

All  the distin-

' guished researchers of

our past have dealt with
the Byzantine basilica
in Curlina, and to them
we owe the exposed
data. Their observati-
ons represented suffi-
cient grounds for the
basilica to be known to
the scientific milieu and
to assume a significant
place in the history of
Byzantine architecture of
the Justinian’s age.4!
Nearby Ni§, in
front of the canyon
made by the Toponicka
Reka River, on a strate-
gically important spot
from which the passage
from Morava to Svrljig
was controlled for cen-
turies, righteously called
Zelezna vrata (iron gate),
the early-Byzantine cita-
del Gradiste is located
as a part of the defense
system of the Emperor
Justinian 1 (527-565).
(Fig. 28) It is situated on
a dominant high plateau
on the left bank of the
Toponicka Reka River,
opposite of the medieval
fortress Zeleznik. Within
its strong walls, this cita-
del also had its church
with a marble sanctuary
partition, a graded inte-
rior apse for the bishops’
seats (synthronos), and
fresco-decorated  walls.
Of all this, inside the stat-

41 R. Hodinott, Early Byzantine churches in Macedonia and Southern Serbia, London

1963, 195, fig. 104, note 77.
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Fig. 28. Miljkovac, the site of Gradiste, the altar space with the synthronos

Ca. 28. MusbKoBall, JJOKanuTeT [ paguiire, onTapcKy MpoCTOp ca CHHTPOHOCOM

Fig. 29. Matejevac, Church of St. John, the base

Ca. 29. Marejesar, rjpkBa CB. JoBaHa, 0CHOBa
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Fig. 30. Matejevac, Church of St. John, the southeastern view

Cu. 30. MarejeBar, npksa CB. JoBaHa, rmores ca jyrouctoka

ed fortification walls, one can observe only modest foundations of the apsidal
part, fragments of parapet slabs and decrepit traces of colors on pieces of fresco
mortar.42

On the other side of Ni§, the Monastic Church of St. John was built on
the foundations of an early Byzantine church above the village of Matejevac.43
Its base is in the form of an archaic triconchos. (Fig. 29) Three conches are
joined around the central area of the square-resembling naos. The choir aisles
are smaller and noticeably proportional, while the apsidal aisle is deeper and
follows the width of the naos. Thus sublimated plain form of a trefoil is rare
in our territory. Having arrived from the east, this form of structures found its
stronghold in the early-Byzantine architecture of our parts. Regarding the base
type, the size and the interior construction, the Matejevac Church has its closest
counterpart in the Church of the Assumption in Mrtvica, which is broadly dated
to the V or the beginning of the VI century.44 (Fig. 30)

The ecclesiastical building trade was particularly developed in Ni$ during
the first centuries of Christianity, and the town had many churches of different
architectonic forms. Until the arrival of Slavs, churches had been built in Ni§

42 M. Pakounja, Manacmupu u ypree epaoa Huwa, 79.

43 M. Pakounja, Manacmup Cs. Josana usnao cena I'oprwu Mamejesay koo Huwa,
I'macuuk apyurrea konsepsaropa Cpouje 18, (beorpan 1994), 117-121.

44 B. Tewwh, Ipxea Bozopoouuurnoe Yenersay Mpmeuyu-apxumexmypa, Caouiirena
XX-XXI, (beorpazn 1988/1989), 106.
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in accordance with the contemporary trends prevalent in renowned Christian
centers of that time. Ni§ developed into a center and a nursery of Byzantine
civilization and art, as well as ecclesiastical architecture, from which it radiated
toward the immediate surroundings and further into the continent inlands.

Muwa Paxoyuja

ITAJIEOBU3AHTUICKE LIPKBE HUIIIA
NPEIMMUHAPHU TPEIE

Hajmame getnpu pasiora nocroje 300r kojux y Humry n meroBom okpyxemy Tpeda
ouekuBaTH Behu Opoj mpkasa.

ITpBu je, cBakako, poheme nmneparopa Koncrantuna Benukor y Humry xoju je, kao
1 HEKH O]] herOBUX IPETXOIHUKA [0 OHOBPEMEHOM 00M4Yajy, CBOj Tpaj ,,BEIMIAHCTBEHO
ykpacuo‘‘. Melhy MmHOTHM Trpal)eBuHaMa Koje je carpaauo Tpeda MpeTIOCTaBUTH U N3BECTaH
6poj xpumhaHCKUX XpaMoBa.

Jlpyru pasior carieiaBaMo y YHEHHIN Ja je y Humry usBecHo Bpeme GopaBHoO CB.
Aranacuje Benuky, unje ce mpUCYCTBO OOpPA3WIIO HA IEIOKYIAH XKMBOT MPBUX XpuirhaHa
Huma, na u Ha rpaiuTesbCTBO.

Tpehn pasnor, Buagumo y Tome na je Hum 6mo rpax mMydeHmka—MapTapHONIoNuc,
no3HatT Mel)y oHOBpeMeHHM XpuimhaHuMa ca CBOjUM MYYCHHUIMMA, IITO CE OAPAa3HiIO0 M Ha
IPaJINTEILCTBO.

UYeTBpTH pas3or ce Mperno3Haje y ca3Hamy ja je Humi, 300r dectux ymamga ABapa u
CroBeHa, MoCTao jako BOJHO YIIOPHUINTE U LIEHTAP BU3AHTHjCKE UBHIIM3ALIMje KOja je Of1aB/e
3paumiia Ka yHyTpallbocTH KOHTHHEHTA. U To je Bpeme kana je y Huuy carpabhen sehu Opoj
I[pKaBa, caja BUIIE M0 OKOJIHUM OpIuMa — HeKaJ caMocCTaiHe rpal)eBuHe Ha JOMUHAHTHHM
y3BUILCHHMA, a HEKall y OKBUPY YTBphema Ha CTpaTerujcKu 3Ha4ajHUM Opanma. CBojuM
T0JI0XKajeM Ha JJOMMHATHHUM Y3BUILCHHMA OCTaBJballe Cy yIEUaT/bUB YTHCAK HA JJOMOPOIHO
CTaHOBHHIIITBO.

IpxBeno rpaguresscTBO Huma y mpBuM BekoBHMa XpuimhaHcTBa moceGHO ce
Pa3BUIIO M y MY 3aTHYEMO LIPKBE Pa3iIMYUTOI apXUTEKTOHCKOT oOinka u cTpoja. Cee 10
nonacka CioBeHa, y Humry ce rpane mipkBe y ckiiay ca jeJHOBPEMEHUM TEHJICHIHjaMa Koje
Cy TIpeoBIafaBaie y yrieAHUM XpunrthancKuM neHTpuma. Humr mocraje meHTap u pacagHuk
BU3aHTH]jCKE [IMBUIIM3ALMj€ ¥ YMETHOCTH, 1A U L[PKBEHE apXUTEKType, OJJaKiIe OHa 3pavd Ha
HETIOCPETHO OKPYXKEhe U Jajbe, Y YHYTPAIlhOCT KOHTHHEHTA.



148 Misa Rakocija




